
Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend Kent DA12 1AU

Housing Services Cabinet 
Committee

Members of the Housing Services Cabinet Committee of Gravesham Borough Council are 
summoned to attend a meeting to be held virtually on Monday, 16 November 2020 at 7.30 pm 
when the business specified in the following agenda is proposed to be transacted. Details on how 
Members can attend the meeting will be sent separately. 

In response to COVID-19, the Government has legislated to permit remote attendance by Elected 
Members at formal meetings. This is conditional on other Elected Members and the public being 
able to hear those participating in the meeting. This meeting will be streamed live and can be 
watched via Gravesham Borough Council’s YouTube Channel:- 

www.youtube.com/graveshamtv 

S Walsh
Service Manager (Communities)

Agenda

Part A
Items likely to be considered in Public

1. Apologies 

2. Minutes (Pages 3 - 8)

3. To consider whether any items under Part A of the agenda should be 
considered in private or those (if any) in Part B in public. 

4. Corporate Performance Update: Quarter Two 2020-21 (Pages 9 - 18)

5. Update on Allocations Policy Consultation (Pages 19 - 46)

6. Active Housing - Online Repairs Diagnostics Tool Presentation

7. Update on Additional Resources - DSO Building Management (Pages 47 - 54)

http://www.youtube.com/graveshamtv


8. Any other business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair is 
of the opinion should be considered as a matter of urgency. 

9. Exclusion 
To move, if required, that pursuant to Section 100A (4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 that the public be excluded from any items 
included in Part B of the agenda because it is likely in view of the nature 
of the business to be transacted that if members of the public are present 
during those items, there would be disclosure to them of exempt 
information as defined in Part A of Schedule 12A of the Act.

Part B
Items likely to be considered in Private

None.

Members

Cllr Jenny Wallace (Chair)
Cllr Christina Rolles (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Baljit Hayre
Leslie Hills
Leslie Hoskins
Diane Marsh
Lyn Milner
Leslie Pearton
Peter Scollard
Frank Wardle

Substitutes: To be notified



1

Housing Services Cabinet Committee 

Tuesday, 22 September 2020                                    7.30pm

Present:

Cllr Jenny Wallace  (Chair) 
Cllr Christina Rolles (Vice Chair) 

Cllrs: Baljit Hayre
Leslie Hills
Leslie Hoskins
Diane Marsh
Lyn Milner
Leslie Pearton
Peter Scollard
Frank Wardle

Daniel Killian 
Lee Georgiou 
Nicole Arthur 
Lee Morson  

Assistant Director (Housing)
Service Manager (Housing Options)
Service Delivery Manager
IT Project Manager (Housing System)

Ben Clarke Committee & Scrutiny Assistant (Minutes)  

9. Apologies 

No apologies for absence were received.  

10. Minutes 

The Minutes of the meeting held on Thursday, 04 June 2020 were signed by the Chair.

11. Declarations of Interest 

No declarations of interest were made. 

12. Introduction from the Chair 

The Chair welcomed Lee Georgiou - Service Manager (Housing Options), who joined the 
Council just last week and Lee Morson Project Manager (Housing Services), who joined the 
Council six weeks ago. 

The Chair also advised Members that the Committee would be welcoming Jodie Bulman - 
Service Manager (Housing Landlord Services) next month when she took up her post. . 

The Chair read the following statement to the Committee: 

‘Just before we go the Minutes of the last meeting, I would like to draw Members' attention to 
the fact that the Housing Allocations policy is not on the agenda. 

Page 3 Agenda Item 2



Housing Services Cabinet Committee 22.09.2020

2

However, by way of an up-date, following COVID-19 the consultation date has not long 
closed and, as you know, Housing Services has gone through a positive senior management 
structural change. Lee Georgiou has just joined us and the Allocations policy will very much 
be within Lee's remit. We would like to benefit fully from his expertise and knowledge in this 
field - and we therefore need to ensure that Lee has time to properly review the Policy prior 
to its submission to our Committee.  

This will all work towards ensuring we have an excellent, user- friendly Allocations policy to 
put before the Housing Cabinet Committee in December, ready to launch in 2021.

You may also recall that at the June meeting I said that we want to use this policy as the 
basis for a training session for all Members. Subject to what the Government Covid-19 
guidelines will be stating at the time - and our own Council's timetable - I hope that we will be 
able to do such a training session in the first half of next year.’

13. Corporate Performance Report: Quarter 1 2020/21 

The Committee was presented with an update against the Performance Management 
Framework, as introduced within the Council’s Corporate Plan, for
Quarter One 2020-21 (April to June 2020).

The Assistant Director (Housing) guided Members through the report and gave a detailed 
update against each of the below Policy Commitments: 

1. Deliver an ambitious and diverse programme of building 
2. Enforce a high quality of private housing 
3. Provide a proactive, supportive and financially efficient housing service 
4. Safeguard residents 
5. Deliver a skilled in-house building management team 

The Chair thanked the Assistant Director (Housing) for an informative update and asked that 
her thanks be passed down to the team for their excellent work through a tough quarter. 

The Assistant Director (Housing) fielded questions from the Committee and explained that: 

 All of the five hundred homes due to be built within the next four years, as well as the 
sixty four homes that had already been built during quarter four of 2019/20, would be 
affordable homes; the Assistant Director (Housing) did not have the makeup of the 
homes to hand but he agreed to circulate an email outside of the meeting informing 
Members what type of homes they were (social rented etc) and how they were to be 
funded. 

 In response to a question concerning the New Homes Bonus and the delivery of 
EDC’s planned homes, only the houses built inside the Borough of Gravesham would 
count towards the New Homes Bonus which Gravesham would receive 

 Most of the DSO work was done in house but the Council did not employ Gas 
Service Engineers as gas servicing for residents properties was specialist work; the 
Council has a contract with Swale Heating to carry out all gas servicing and they 
have always provided an excellent service to residents.

 The structure of the two teams under the two new Service  Managers would be 
reviewed to address any underlying issues and make both teams more effective 

Page 4



Housing Services Cabinet Committee 22.09.2020

3

 The Rough Sleeper Team consisted of one Rough Sleeper Coordinator that worked 
with two outreach partners from Porchlight and also worked closely with 
representatives from Sanctuary and The Hub at the Methodist Church, Gravesend

Cllr Lyn Milner asked that her thanks be noted and passed to the Housing Teams for their 
hard work during the pandemic including the safe way they conducted themselves and the 
public when they visited resident’s properties wearing masks and socially distancing etc. 

Several Members of the Committee expressed concern over the layout of the policy 
commitments as they were formatted over a small part of the page which made it hard to 
read on the iPad as well as the hard copies. The Committee asked that in the future the 
entire page was used for the graphs and associated information. 

14. Presentation - Update on New Housing Management System 

The IT Project Manager (Housing System) provided the Committee with a presentation that 
updated them on the new Housing Management System.  

The presentation was published and could be found through the following link: 

https://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/documents/b13180/Supplementary%20Presentation%
20-%20Housing%20Management%20System%20Tuesday%2022-Sep-
2020%2019.30%20Housing%20Services.pdf?T=9 

The Chair thanked the IT Project Manager (Housing System) for an informative presentation 
and expressed hope that a similar presentation that explained the work of the Service 
Delivery Manager (Housing Repairs) team would also be brought to the Committee in the 
future. 

At the Chairs request, the Assistant Director (Housing) gave an overview of the existing 
Housing Management System and further information regarding the purchase of the new 
system to Members: 

 The existing Capita housing management system became de-supported on 01 
September 2020; however, the Council paid to extend the support provided by Capita 
until the end of March 2021 

 The purchase of the new housing management system was delayed due to a 
procurement issue and at the time it was felt that the new system would not be able 
to be implemented until May 2021. However, due to recent  work undertaken with the 
IT Project Manager (Housing System) and various teams its likely that the  will be 
brought forward to January 2021 

 The new housing management system would run in parallel with the old housing 
management system until March 2021 at which point the old housing Management 
System would be switched off and made defunct 

 The Assistant Director (Housing) fielded questions from the Committee and explained that: 

 The revised Housing Allocations Policy would have no impact on  new Housing 
Management system; the new system is in relation to the management of properties 
and tenants  and therefore irrelevant in terms of policy.  However, the Locata system, 
which is the system used to manage the allocation of properties and mentioned 

Page 5

https://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/documents/b13180/Supplementary%20Presentation%20-%20Housing%20Management%20System%20Tuesday%2022-Sep-2020%2019.30%20Housing%20Services.pdf?T=9
https://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/documents/b13180/Supplementary%20Presentation%20-%20Housing%20Management%20System%20Tuesday%2022-Sep-2020%2019.30%20Housing%20Services.pdf?T=9
https://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/documents/b13180/Supplementary%20Presentation%20-%20Housing%20Management%20System%20Tuesday%2022-Sep-2020%2019.30%20Housing%20Services.pdf?T=9


Housing Services Cabinet Committee 22.09.2020

4

during the presentation would link in to the new Housing Management System as 
and when properties are let to applicants.  

 With regards to Member involvement, there would be regular updates from the 
project group to Cabinet and the Housing Services Cabinet Committee. . Once the 
implementation of the system is completed Members would have an opportunity to 
be shown how the new system functions and the benefits it will bring to our tenants 
and the service.  

15. Updated Repair Policies - Repairs and Maintenance Policy and 
Rechargeable Repairs Policy 

The Committee were informed of the updates to the Repairs & Maintenance Policy and 
Rechargeable Repairs Policy. 

The Service Delivery Manager (Housing Repairs) guided Members through the report, 
explaining the current state of the two policies, the reasons for the proposed changes and 
the full list of changes to the two policies which could be seen at 3.1 and 3.2 of the report. 

The Chair thanked the Service Delivery Manager (Housing Repairs) for a comprehensive 
introduction and praised the concise way in which the changes to the two policies had been 
laid out in the report. 

The Service Delivery Manager (Housing Repairs) fielded questions from the Committee and 
explained that: 

 The Assisted Re-Decorations Scheme was a very popular and commonly requested 
service from Council tenants over the age of sixty five; often if one resident received 
the service then many of the residents in the same area wanted the same. It was an 
expensive service and took time to pack up and decorate an elderly residents house 
however it was a worthwhile service and Schemes Managers/Housing Officers widely 
promoted it 

 The £40 charge for a tenant that has missed three consecutive appointments had 
been in effect since 2017; the warning was included in all messages and 
appointments cards etc to the tenants so that they were fully aware. It was rare that a 
tenant wilfully missed three consecutive appointments but when they did miss 
appointments there was a cost to the Council and other residents had to wait longer 
for their appointments. There was a correlation between the tenants that missed their 
appointments and the ones who had anti-social behaviour or tenancy issues 

 Trickle vents were fitted into all new window installations to alleviate condensation 
issues 

 
Several concerns were expressed by Members: 

 Some of the wording in section ‘37. Domestic Abuse’ was an issue; it was suggested 
that the word ‘may;’ should be replaced with ‘will’ to convey a stronger message that 
the Council would always hep domestic abuse victims 

 Some of the wording in section ‘6. Right to Buy’ was an issue; it was felt that the first 
paragraph and the last paragraph contradicted each other as the first paragraph 
stated that the Council had no obligation to carry out any repairs/maintenance once a 
property was subject to a Right to Buy application. However the last paragraph 

Page 6



Housing Services Cabinet Committee 22.09.2020

5

implied that works would still be carried out on the properties. It was requested that 
the wording be checked to ensure it was not contradictory  

 The tenants were not always solely responsible for damp and mould appearing in 
their homes; a variety of issues could exacerbate the problem and it was not always 
as easy as opening the windows and keeping rooms well ventilated as it outlined in 
the report in section ’31. Damp and Mould’ 

In response to the first concern, the Chair responded that that the team had to be very 
careful with the wording due to the responsibility that would stem from a commitment but the 
Chair agreed to take it away and consider whether or not the wording needed to change 
which would also be checked with colleagues in Legal.  

In response to the second concern, the Assistant Director (Housing) advised that he would 
take the concern back to his team and revisit the wording to ensure it was not contradictory, 
again, with advice from Legal. . 

In regards to ongoing issues with damp and mould in tenant’s houses, the Assistant Director 
(Housing) advised that he had completed a lot of work in that area since he worked for the 
Council and a significant amount of money had been invested in putting in preventative 
measures such as certain wallpapers and special paint products etc that were designed to 
protect from damp/mould. However, many of the measures were not that effective and it was 
simpler measures that were more successful such as helping tenants make lifestyle changes 
and cross ventilation in all of the properties. The team engaged with a specialist damp & 
mould building surveyor (known as the Mould Doctor) who also happened to be a life coach; 
their expert knowledge and advice that was given to the tenants was very useful in 
combatting damp/mould. The Assistant Director (Housing) did not have to hand the number 
of houses with extractor fans installed but he clarified that they were not always the answer 
as there were many mitigating factors such as how it was used, where the property was 
located, how the property was heated, the tenants lifestyle and available ventilation etc. The 
Assistant Director (Housing) reiterated that the Council had made far better progress with 
the issue when the Mould Doctor was utilised rather than the previous preventative 
measures. 

The Service Delivery Manager (Housing Repairs) further added that by engaging with the 
Mould Doctor, following the best practice solutions and engaging in two virtual meetings with 
different Councils to discuss the best approach it had meant Gravesham had been proactive 
and effective in dealing with the issue. 

The Committee noted the contents and updates of the Repairs & Maintenance Policy and 
Rechargeable Repairs Policy.

16. DSO Building Management Annual Report 2019/20 

The Committee were provided with the DSO Building Management Annual Report which 
was intended to give Members easy to understand, key information about the performance 
of DSO Building Management and outlined what had been done in many important areas 
across the service between April 2019 and March 2020 to ensure the Councils properties 
were kept warm, safe and well maintained. 

The Service Delivery Manage guided Members through the report highlighting key figures 
from the following sections: 

Page 7



Housing Services Cabinet Committee 22.09.2020

6

 Improvement to Homes 
 Day-to-day repairs in homes 
 Empty Properties 
 Health and Safety 
 Social Value 
 Environmental Footprint 
 Future 

The Vice-Chair praised the excellent report and the Committee echoed that thanks be given 
to the officers for their hard work throughout the year which was clearly evidenced from the 
figures in the report. 

Following several questions surrounding the social value aspect of the report, the Assistant 
Director (Housing) advised that: 

 Social value was looked to be secured through the contractors that the Council 
procured as part of the DSO Building Management team; the largest contributor was 
Swale Heating and they committed to sponsor certain events such as the Fireworks 
display every November. Due to the fireworks events being postponed, it had just 
been agreed with Swale that this year’s funding was going to be redirected into 
provision for the homeless 

 Your Borough was funded by the Breyer Group who supported the DSO Building 
Management team with the day to day responsive repairs 

 As part of the procurement process all of the contractors that were hired had to 
commit to some kind of social value such as event sponsorship or funding for training 
etc 

The Committee noted the information contained within the report.

Close of meeting 

The meeting ended at 21:09pm. 

Page 8



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Housing Services Committee

Date: 16 November 2020

Reporting officer: Daniel Killian - Assistant Director (Housing)

Subject: Corporate Performance Update: Quarter Two 2020-21 

Purpose and summary of report: 
To present Members of the Housing Services Committee with an update against the 
Performance Management Framework, as introduced within the council’s Corporate Plan, for 
Quarter Two 2020-21 (July to September 2020).

Recommendations:
1. This report is for information purposes only.

1. Introduction

1.1 In October 2019 the council formally adopted its new Corporate Plan for 2019-23. 
The plan sets out the council’s ambition for the borough, complete with a suite of 
corporate objectives and supporting policy commitments that will shape the 
council’s activities over the four year period.  

1.2 In order to evaluate if the council is effectively achieving against its stated policy 
commitments, and is ultimately delivering consistently high quality services, the 
council need to have a sound performance management process in place. 
Developed by senior council officers and Cabinet portfolio holders, the council’s 
Corporate Plan presents a Performance Management Framework (PMF) that 
forms the basis of reporting corporate performance to council Members and 
residents. 

Page 9 Agenda Item 4



2

2. Performance management: process

2.1 The effective management of the council relies upon good quality and timely 
performance information on which to base informed executive decisions. 

2.2 Appendix Two to this report provides Members of the Housing Services 
Committee with a statistical overview of the council’s performance against the 
Corporate Plan for Quarter Two 2020-21, covering the period July to September 
2020. 

2.3 Information on performance over the period is presented separately in tabular and 
graphical form for all indicators. Where any data is not presented, this will relate 
either to those indicators reported on an annual basis or, alternatively, where data 
has not been submitted in time for the presentation of the report. Any outturns 
where data has been unable to be reported will be presented within the next 
available reporting cycle.  

3. BACKGROUND PAPERS

 Gravesham Borough Council: Corporate Plan 2019-23. 

 Gravesham Borough Council: Performance Management Framework 
2019-23. 

Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be directed to 
Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary arrangements.

Page 10



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1
     

Legal The council’s Corporate Plan is an integral part of the authority’s policy framework 
as defined by the Constitution. The new Plan will ensure the council has in place an 
effective framework to deliver its responsibilities and ensure better results for 
vulnerable local residents, with the assistance of relevant partner agencies. 

Finance and Value 
for Money 

There are no significant costs associated with the monitoring of the council’s 
Corporate Plan from which council activities should be based and which therefore 
should be accounted for as part of on-going financial planning processes.

Risk Assessment Implementation of a performance management framework allows the council to 
evidence how successful it is in achieving against its stated objectives and provides 
residents accountability in how successfully it is administering its resources.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
     

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
     

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan The council’s adopted Corporate Plan sets the strategic ambition and objectives for 
the authority over the 2019-23 period. This report provides Cabinet with a quarterly 
assessment of how the council is delivering against its objectives through its 
performance management framework.

Climate Change Climate change as a strategic theme underpins the projects, initatives and work 
involved in the delivery of the council's Corporate Plan. As a core policy 
commitment of the council, efforts in this area are represented within corporate 
objective #1: People.

Crime and Disorder Community safety is an integral theme of the Corporate Plan and work by the 
council in this area, alongside its key partners, will go towards delivering corporate 
objective #1: People.

Page 11

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


4

Digital and website 
implications

In terms of the council's performance management framework, digital implications 
are represented and assessed through the outturns relating to  'PI 51: online self-
help forms'.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

The council's work in safeguarding children and vulnerable adults helps contribute 
towards delivering corporate objectives #1: People and #2: Place.

Page 12



Gravesham Borough Council - Corporate Plan 2019-23 00Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of

H O U S I N G  S E R V I C E S  
P O R T F O L I O

Performance   report 
Q 2  :  2  0  2  0  -  2  1

Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of

P
age 13



P I  15 Gross number of affordable homes delivered

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

64

14 affordable housing completions due this quarter at Springhead Park and Waterman’s Park have 

been delayed to Q3 due to Covid-19 related site delays.   

Construction is continuing at Cable Wharf (Northfleet Embankment East) where Town and Country 

Housing are expecting completion of 10 homes for shared ownership and three for affordable rent in 

Q3.  These homes will be the first affordable homes completed on this site where the total number of 

affordable homes delivered during the coming phases will total 224. 

Construction is also continuing on Gravesham development sites at Whitehill Road and St Patrick’s 

Gardens with demolition of the bedsits at Valley Drive expected early December following planned 

gas disconnections mid-November.

Planning permission was recently secured for the delivery of a wheelchair accessible and adaptable 

Council-owned bungalow on an underused garage court at Arnold Avenue in Meopham.  

#1 PEOPLE P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

1. Deliver an ambitious and diverse programme of building: increase the supply of high quality 

market and affordable housing.

a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean and 

attractive borough their home.

O U T T U R N

Annual indicator Annual indicator

40

60

80

100

Q4
2019 - 20

P
age 14



P I  16 Total number of empty private sector homes brought back into occupation

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

6 1 2 1 6 11

P I  17 Total number of private sector homes brought up to standard 

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

5 2 2 12 2 2

P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

2. Enforce a high quality of private housing: work with landlords to tackle property standards, 

empty homes and homes in multiple occupation.

a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean and 

attractive borough their home.

O U T T U R N

O U T T U R N

Despite difficult trading conditions Q2 saw a further 11 properties returned to use by the Empty 

Property Team. The site redeveloped at Darnley Road delivered another seven properties to land that 

was previously unused and overgrown, whilst a combination of patience and dogged determination 

returned two challenging long-term empty properties to use for the first time in more than 10 years. 

A positive outcome for the borough, evidencing the council's commitment to improving housing 

standards and the local living environment.

The 2 properties brought up to standard included a HMO licensed for 10 occupants. The gas boiler 

was prohibited from use by a gas engineer during its yearly check. Some works had been undertaken 

to the kitchen ceiling affecting access to the flue and could not be inspected. This was quickly 

rectified with the required inspection hatches installed as soon as possible and the prohibition lifted. 

The other property was single family dwelling and after inspection was found to have a Category one 

hazard of Excess Cold. The tenant was already on the housing register and was re-banded as a 

result of the hazard, into Band A.

#1 PEOPLE 

0

4

8

12

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

0

5

10

15

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

P
age 15



P I  18 Average time taken to re-let council housing (days)

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

29 23 21 22 53 30

P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

3. Provide a proactive, supportive and financially efficient housing service: high quality tenant 

management experienced through a service making full use of its assets. 

a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean and 

attractive borough their home.

O U T T U R N

#1 PEOPLE 

Q2 saw a significant improvement in the performance of time taken to re-let council housing due to 

the fact that there were no longer government restrictions in place regarding the viewing and letting of 

properties.

The team continue to progress the design and build of the new Housing Management System, a 

system that will give greater flexibility to the department and allow our Officers to deliver a first class 

service whilst on our estates to our tenants. The development phase is significantly underway and 

staff have been receiving training on the new system ready to train other staff members and 

commence system testing ready to ‘go live’ in January 2021.

The Housing Income Team continue to focus on how they can support our tenants in maintaining rent 

payments during these challenging times for our tenants.  Rent arrears are beginning to reduce after 

the increase due to the impact of Covid-19. Great partnership working with Universal Credit and a 

new payment cycle has contributed to this decrease and will continue throughout the rest of the 

financial year.

The Sheltered Housing Team are continuing to support our most vulnerable tenants, making welfare 

calls and signposting those most in need to the necessary services they require. This ranges from 

carers, mental health services and community support. They are also ensuring that communal areas 

remain Covid-19 secure for all tenants. The team continue to health and safety check all schemes, 

completing risk assessments for all new tenants and communal areas.

0

20

40

60

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

P
age 16



P I  19 % of Disabled Facility Grant applications processed on time

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%

P I   20 Total number of households in temporary accommodation

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

103 80 74 74 96 99

O U T T U R N

O U T T U R N

Q2: The Team continues to deliver Mandatory Disabled Grants within timescales once 

referrals/applications are received for the council to action.   

With Covid-19 delaying works during Q1, there have been considerable progress being made in Q2 

on new referrals and completing those adaptations which had already been approved. Safe distance 

working still applies with the KCC, OTs and the Agent/Contractors with vulnerable household.  KCC, 

Adult Social Care have now progressed all backlog of initial referral visits.  Most assessments are still 

carried out virtual where there is provision in doing so.

The delivery around hospital discharge/prevention work continues to rise.  This is anticipated to 

continue due to Covid-19 and to help the NHS as much as possible.

The Department receives referrals from other Housing depts., OTs, CCGs, Agent and family 

members for those provisions which are required within the home to prevent health consequences of 

the most vulnerable.  Work around hoarding is especially of concern where hospital discharge is 

concerned. 

The number of households in temporary accommodation has remained fairly static throughout quarter 

two. However, the numbers in nightly paid TA are reducing as we continue to increase our portfolio of 

suitable general needs GBC stock for homeless households. Those accommodated in emergency 

temporary accommodation under Covid-19 will remain in accommodation until the the end of 

December 2020 whilst we continue to work with them to find settled housing solutions.

#1 PEOPLE P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

4. Safeguard residents: put in place a package of housing measures and creative interventions that 

support the most vulnerable.

a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean and 

attractive borough their home.

40%

60%

80%

100%

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

30

60

90

120

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

P
age 17



P I  21 % of emergency jobs completed on time

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%

P I   22 % of council properties with valid gas safety certification

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 99%

#1 PEOPLE P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

5. Deliver a skilled in-house building management team: progressively improve the standard and 

efficiency of local housing.

a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean and 

attractive borough their home.

During Q2 the impact of Covid-19 has really demonstrated the benefits of having an in-house 

workforce.  

The service was able to still provide a good level of service and return to normal service levels quickly 

and effectively.  Additionally, we were one of the few social housing providers in Kent to continue to 

operate a repairs and maintenance (including voids) service over the last six months, and in Q2 

completed nearly 6,000 repair jobs - 89% of these being completed at the first visit.

Covid-19 has however made it more difficult to source some materials such as plaster board and 

paint which did slow down our turn- around times slightly on the larger voids.

Crucially, customer satisfaction has remained high with a 99% satisfaction rate and we also received 

a high number of compliments from tenants in regards to the standard of work and how the work was 

carried out in such a challenging environment.

Q2 also saw the launch of the new repairs reporting portal which allows tenants to diagnose their 

repair and book their own appointment.  Tenants can also use the portal to cancel or amend their own 

appointment which should reduce missed or wasted appointments in the future.  

O U T T U R N

O U T T U R N

40%

60%

80%

100%

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

40%

60%

80%

100%

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

P
age 18



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Housing Services Cabinet Committee

Date: 16 November 2020

Reporting officer: Lee Georgiou, Service Manager (Housing Options) 

Subject: Housing Allocations Scheme Review

Purpose and summary of report: 
This covering report outlines the proposed changes to the Council's Housing Allocations 
Scheme as discussed and agreed by the Housing Services Committee in February 2020 and 
summarises the responses received during a 20 week public consultation period.

Taking into account comments received during the consultation, a framework for the revised 
Housing Allocations Scheme has been created and a copy of the proposed scheme is 
included as an appendix to this report. The revised scheme provides a greater degree of 
clarity than the current scheme whilst also ensuring that those with the greatest housing need 
are assisted in order of defined prioirties.

These proposed changes will ensure that the Council’s Housing Allocations Scheme meets 
the requirements of current legislation, guidance and good practice to provide a clear and 
comprehensive scheme which describes how the Council will assess and prioritise the 
demand from applicants for limited social housing within the Borough.

Recommendations:
1. For Members to note the outcome of the consultation and agree the next steps to 

progress the Housing Allocations Scheme as set out in Section 4 of this report.  

1. Background

1.1 Gravesham Borough Council is required by Part 7 of the Housing Act 1996 to 
publish a Housing Allocations Scheme to determine the basis for which social 
housing will be allocated both for its own housing stock and for Registered 
Providers (Housing Associations) properties to which Gravesham Borough 
Council has nomination rights.

1.2 Allocation Schemes are governed by the Housing Act 1996, the Homelessness 
Act 2002, Housing Act 2004, Localism Act 2011 and two pieces of Statutory 
Guidance; 

1.2.1 Allocation of accommodation: guidance for local housing authorities in 
England (2012) and, 

Page 19 Agenda Item 5



2

1.2.2 Providing social housing for local people (2013) and the Homelessness 
Reduction Act 2017.

1.3 The Housing Act 1996 requires that reasonable preference is shown to several 
groups of applicants, including:

1.3.1 Applicants living in overcrowded, insanitary or unsuitable accommodation

1.3.2 Applicants found to be homeless under Part 7 of the Act, 

1.3.3 Applicants with a medical or welfare related need to move and, 

1.3.4 Applicants who need to live in a specific area to avoid hardship. 

1.4 Local Authorities do have discretion to set other local priorities operating below 
the level of reasonable preference and can determine how applicants with similar 
needs are prioritised.

2. Current Position

2.1 The Council’s existing Housing Allocations Scheme was introduced in 2014 to 
reflect the new legislation at that time relating to welfare reforms and the Localism 
Act 2011.  There have been significant changes to legislation over the past six 
years and it essential that our policy is updated to reflect these changes. 

2.2 At its meeting on 12 February 2020, the Housing Services Cabinet Committee 
agreed in principle to a series of proposed changes to the Council’s existing 
Housing Allocations Scheme as time had proved that the existing policy was not 
as effective as it could be and that those changes should form part of a wider 
public consultation. It was also recognised that a review would help strengthen the 
council’s commitment to continue to help those in greatest need of housing as well 
as making the best use of the available housing stock within the Borough. 

2.3 Although there have been a number of minor changes to the scheme as part of 
the review, the following changes were subject to public consultation:

2.3.1 A change to the definition of local connection to increase the qualifying 
length of residence or employment in the Borough from 2 years to 3 years.

2.3.2 A change to ‘refusal sanctions’ so that all applicants will be suspended 
from the housing register for 12 months if they refuse a suitable offer.

2.3.3 A change to the definition of Band D priority to include just those 
applicants needing sheltered housing and removing those with no 
identified housing need.

2.3.4 An increase in the priority awarded to certain homeless households with a 
specific need or requirement for social housing in the Borough of 
Gravesham.   

2.3.5 An increase in priority for current and former armed services personnel 
and their families who suffer serious injury or die in service.

2.3.6 An increase in the priority awarded to tenants looking to downsize to a 
property with one less bedroom than their current home from Band B to 

Page 20



3

Band A to maximise their chances of securing a transfer and freeing up 
larger homes for families.

2.3.7 The introduction of a Housing Allocations Panel. 

2.4 The consultation on these proposals ran for a 20 week period and closed on 25 
October 2020.  Over 20 organisations were emailed directly and asked to 
comment on the proposed changes. 

2.5 These organisations included all of our Registered Provider partners with housing 
stock in the Borough, various teams within Kent County Council Social Services 
including occupational therapy, older persons physical disability, community 
mental health, learning disability and early help, Porchlight, NWK Mind, Imago and 
Look Ahead. In addition to this, the consultation was available on the Council’s 
website for members of the public to view and comment.

3. Consultation Responses

3.1 Despite an extended consultation period, only three responses were received, two 
from our Registered Provider partners and one from a local community group.  
Overall the responses agreed with all the principles of the proposed changes as 
set out in Section 2.3 of this report, however, there were some concerns about the 
impact on certain individual cohorts which have been detailed below:

3.1.1 It was suggested that those who receive an offer of accommodation 
following an auto-bid on a property should not be penalised for refusing 
offers, and;  

3.1.2 One respondent did not agree that applicants should be suspended for a 
12 month period following the refusal of an offer, as the offer made might 
not be suitable for their needs.

3.2 Officers have considered both these points and how the issues can be mitigated 
either within the policy or through an administration process to address the 
concerns raised by the respondents and to ensure no one is disadvantaged as a 
result. 

3.3 With regards to the first point in 3.1.1 this has been considered and to mitigate the 
risk of an applicant being penalised for refusing the offer of accommodation by 
way of an auto-bid being placed, applicants will have the ability to de-select 
certain property types and property locations when setting up an auto-bid account. 
This will significantly reduce the likelihood of a property being offered and refused 
due to being in undesirable location or unsuitable property type.      

3.4 Taking in to account the point made in 3.1.2, officers will only seek to sanction 
applicants for refusing an offer of accommodation that they are satisfied meets the 
needs of the applicants and their household.  

3.5 A copy of the full draft Housing Allocations Scheme can be found in Appendix 2 
taking in to account the comments received during consultation. 

4. Next steps

4.1 Members will be aware that the development of this scheme has been delayed, 
and since originally reporting to Committee in February 2020 to seek agreement 
to consult on the scheme there have been some significant changes within the 

Page 21



4

senior management structure of the Housing Department along with a challenging 
operating environment as a result of Covid-19 that had to take priority. 

4.2 However, the framework for the scheme as set out in Appendix 2 has now been 
developed using the feedback received during consultation and the new Service 
Manager (Housing Options)’s extensive knowledge and expertise in this area of 
work. 

4.3 The principles and fundamental changes proposed during consultation have been 
agreed and therefore will be confirmed within the revised scheme. Officers will 
now work with Legal and other senior managers within the organisation to refine 
some sections of the policy, or add additional context where it may be needed to 
ensure clarity and ease of use. 

4.4 The final version of the Housing Allocations Scheme will be presented to the 
Housing Services Cabinet Committee at its meeting on 04 February 2021. It will 
then be presented to Cabinet on 22 February 2021, with a recommendation to 
adopt the revised scheme at the beginning of the new financial year, April 2021. 

5. BACKGROUND PAPERS

5.1 12 February 2020 - Housing Services Committee Report, Allocations Policy 
Review

Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be directed to 
Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary arrangements.

Page 22



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1
     

Legal S.167 (1) Housing Act 1996 states “Every local housing authority shall have a 
scheme (their “allocation scheme”) for determining priorities and as to the 
procedure to be followed, in allocating housing accommodation.
For this purpose, “scheme” includes all aspects of the allocation process, including 
the persons or descriptions of persons by whom decisions are to be taken

Finance and Value 
for Money 

Work done to ensure the development of a robust Housing Allocations Scheme will 
enable Gravesham Borough Council to avoid costly legal challenges or 
compensation awards by the Ombudsman.

Risk Assessment It is a statutory requirement for a local authority to have an allocations policy, and 
for that scheme to be lawful, it must comply with all associated legislation and 
codes of guidance.
Failure to have a lawful scheme will lead to legal challenges that the authority 
would not be in a position to defend.
In addition to any legal challenges that might be presented, challenges may also 
come from the Housing Ombudsman, and the Local Government Ombudsman are 
empowered to award damages to those applicants where it is satisfied that 
maladministration has taken place. 

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
n/a

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
n/a

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
The draft allocation scheme will be subject to consultation and an equality 
impact assessment.

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan In line with the objectives of the Corporate Plan 2019-24 corporate objective 1 - 
People, the Housing Allocations Policy will help ensure the commitment to provide 
a proactive, supportive and financially efficient housing service: high quality tenant 

Page 23

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


6

management experienced through a service making full use of its assets. 

Climate Change n/a

Crime and Disorder The Policy will contribute to addressing crime and disorder by providing a scheme 
which recognises need in the allocation of its housing stock

Digital and website 
implications

The revised policy will be be published on the council's website

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

Provision of homes allocated via the Allocations  will ensure the safeguarding of 
children and vulnerable adults.

Page 24



1

Gravesham Borough Council

Housing Allocation Scheme

April 2021

Document Control

Responsible Department Housing Allocations
Author Service Manager (Housing Options)
Consultation 12 week public consultation

Revision History

Date Previous Description of Revision
Version

Page 25



2

Index

1. Introduction and Policy Objectives
2. What properties are included and excluded from this scheme
3. Equality and diversity
4. The Lettings Policy
5. Applying for Housing
6. Determining Priority
7. Keeping the register up to date
8. Scheme maintenance
9. The right to request a review of a decision

Page 26



3

1. Introduction and Policy Objectives

1.1. The demand for people in need of housing or wishing to move to Gravesham is significantly 
higher than the number of homes available. There is an insufficient supply of social housing 
owned by the Council and Registered Providers (Housing Associations) to offer housing to 
everyone who would want it, or even to everyone who needs a home.  

1.2. This allocation scheme ensures that we allocate the limited number of social homes available as 
fairly as possible and to those in greatest need. This policy sets out who is and who is not 
assisted under the scheme, how applications are assessed and how they are prioritised. The 
policy is designed to ensure we comply with our legal obligations and to support the objectives of 
Gravesham’s Housing Strategy.  

1.3. The objectives of the policy are to:

 Comply with the law and have regard to statutory guidance.
 Determine the priority of applicants in a clear, transparent and consistent way.
 Allocate affordable housing fairly and in accordance with the scheme.
 Provide accurate and timely advice and information to allow applicants to make informed 

choices about their housing options.
 Create sustainable communities by the use of local lettings plans. 
 Make the best use of the housing stock within Gravesham, ensuring that vacant homes 

are let quickly and efficiently.

1.4. Only applicants who are accepted on to the Council’s housing register will be able to apply for 
social housing in Gravesham. The Council will consider all applications for social housing in 
accordance with this policy, which sets out:

 Who qualifies to be included on the register.
 How to apply to get on the register.
 How we determine an applicant’s priority on the register.
 How to bid for available properties.
 How available properties are allocated.
 How we keep the register up to date.
 How applicants can seek a review of decisions made regarding the application. 

assessment and allocation process.

1.5. This allocations scheme has been written to comply with the provisions of the:

 Housing Act 1996 (as amended by the Homelessness Act 2002),
 Localism Act 2011.
 Homelessness Reduction Act 2017. 

It also takes into account the Code of Guidance on Allocations June 2012 and Supplementary 
Guidance December 2013, Providing Social Housing for local people October 2013 and Right to 
Move March 2015. 

2.  What properties are included and excluded from this scheme

2.1. The scheme covers all Council and Registered Partner Landlord properties, which the Council 
have nomination rights for. These are available to let on an Introductory Tenancy, Secure Tenancy, 
or Assured Tenancy and includes flexible tenancies and those let under the affordable rented 
schemes.  The following are not considered to be an allocation under this policy:

Page 27



4

 Statutory right of succession to a tenancy on the death of the original tenant.
 When an introductory tenancy becomes a secure tenancy at the end of the probationary 

period.
 Where a Court makes a decision about a tenancy (such as an order under the

Children Act).
 Where we let a property directly to someone who needs temporary accommodation only. 

This may include people who need to move out for a while whilst refurbishment is carried 
out (temporary decant), but does not include people who need to be moved out of their 
home permanently. 

 Where the tenant is returning to the property after refurbishment or improvement
 Mutual exchanges.
 Tenancies granted under section 39 of the Land Compensation Act 1973 or sections 554 

and 555 of the Housing Act 1985.

3. Equality and diversity

3.1. Gravesham is a diverse borough and home to people from a wide range of backgrounds and 
communities.  We are committed to our residents having the opportunity to reach their potential 
and seek to ensure our services meet their needs.  We seek to ensure that no section of our 
community is excluded from the benefits and opportunities available and that we always have 
regard to the need to eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation. The policy will be 
applied consistently to everyone who applies to or is on the housing waiting list regardless of race, 
gender, disability, age, sexuality, religion or belief.  

4. The Lettings Policy

4.1. Who can join the Housing Register?

Anyone age 16 or above is able to join the housing register, unless they are ineligible or 
disqualified. You will be ineligible if you:

 Are a person the Government says cannot be on the list (this includes people who are 
subject to immigration control and do not have permission to be in the United Kingdom 
(UK), or whose immigration status does not allow them to benefit from government help).  

 If a member of your household who lives with you, and has engaged in unacceptable 
behaviour, which is defined below.

4.2. Ineligible as a result of immigration status

The Government states that normally we will not be able to allocate social housing to persons who 
need leave to enter or remain in the UK.  This applies to all persons except British citizens or 
persons with a right to reside in the UK under European law. 

If you need leave to enter or remain in the UK (regardless of whether or not you have leave) you 
will only be eligible to join the housing list if you are a person who falls into one of the following: 

 Recorded by the Secretary of State as a refugee.
 Granted Exceptional Leave to Remain outside of the Immigration Rules who is not subject 

to a condition of non-recourse to public funds (Indefinite Leave to Remain).
 Granted unconditional and unlimited leave to remain in the UK, is habitually resident in the 

Common Travel Area (UK, Channel Islands, Isle of Man or Republic of Ireland) and who is 
not sponsored.

 Granted Humanitarian Protection.
 An Afghan citizen granted limited leave to enter the UK under paragraph 276BA1 of the 

Immigration Rules.

Page 28



5

 Granted limited leave to enter or remain in the UK on family or private life grounds under 
Article 8 of the European Convention of Human Rights under 12 paragraph 276BE(1) or 
276DG or Appendix FM of the Immigration Rules who is not subject to a condition of non-
recourse to public funds. 

The Government also states that we cannot Allocate housing to anyone unless they are habitually 
resident in the Common Travel Area, subject to certain exceptions for persons with rights of 
residence under European law and persons who are in the UK as a result of being deported or 
expelled from another country. 

The Government also states that we cannot Allocate housing to a person whose only right to reside 
in the UK arises under European law based on their status as a jobseeker or an initial there months’ 
right of residence, or is a derivative right of residence based on being the principal carer for a British 
citizen. 

The Council is not allowed to allocate housing to an ineligible person by granting them a joint 
tenancy with another, eligible person. 

These rules do not apply to a person who is already a secure or introductory tenant or an assured 
tenant of accommodation to which they have been nominated by a local housing authority. In that 
case, you are free to apply for a transfer regardless of your immigration status. 

The detailed provisions of these rules are complex and the above is only a summary of them. They 
are also subject to change by statutory instruments issued by Government from time to time.

4.3. Ineligible as a result of unacceptable behaviour 

Unacceptable behaviour is behaviour that is sufficiently serious enough for us to consider you to be 
unsuitable to be our tenant. You will not usually qualify to be included on the Housing Register if 
you or a member of your household, has behaved in an unacceptable manner in the preceding five 
years on the date of your application.  

Examples of unacceptable behaviour include, but are not limited to the following: 

 Eviction or otherwise lost accommodation as a result of anti-social behaviour or rent 
arrears.  

 Conviction of criminal offences in or near your home and we are satisfied you still pose a 
threat to neighbours or the wider community.

 Threatening or aggressive behavior towards Gravesham staff or contractors. 
 Racial, sexual, homophobic harassment.

The decision to disqualify you will be made by the Housing Allocations Panel and will take into 
account any supporting information from you, your current or previous landlords, and the police, the 
Community Safety Unit, Probation or any other relevant professional body. 

4.4. Disqualification from the Housing Register

As a result of the shortage of social housing in Gravesham we have identified certain groups who 
will not be allocated housing.  These applicants are either disqualified from being on the housing 
register or disqualified from receiving an offer.  We have outlined these groups below:

If we consider that you have significant financial resources

If you own or jointly own a property, (including under a shared ownership arrangement) whether or 
not you currently live there, you will not usually be included on the housing register. Homeowners 
who need to move on medical or welfare grounds or grounds relating to a disability may be 

Page 29



6

considered for sheltered, adapted or other suitable accommodation in accordance with their 
assessed needs where their needs cannot be met from the proceeds of the sale of the current 
property or their current income and capital, including savings. 

If you have a total household income or capital (including savings) above the thresholds described 
below, you will not usually be included on the housing register. The current limits are for 
households:

 Without dependent children with a total gross income of £40,000 or more.
 With dependent children with a total gross income of £60,000 or more.
 With total capital assets or savings of £16,000 or more.

Current payments of the following are disregarded as income for the purposes of this assessment:

 Disability living allowance.
 Attendance allowance and any benefit treated as attendance allowance.
 Personal independence payments.
 Armed Forces Independence Payment 
 War pensioner’s mobility supplement.
 Payments in compensation for non-receipt of the above.

This does not apply to homeless persons to whom the Council owes the main housing duty under 
section 193 of Housing Act 1996, transfer applications from existing secure tenants of the Council or 
secure or assured tenants of our Partner Landlords or leaseholders where the Council is buying 
back the property as part of a decant programme.

Disqualification as a result of outstanding housing related debt

It is an essential policy of the Council and our partner landlords that we collect rent and other 
housing related debt. Applicants who have an outstanding housing related debt to the Council, other 
social landlord or private sector landlord (including but not limited to rent arrears, council tax 
arrears, Housing Benefit overpayments and rent deposit scheme arrears) will be suspended from 
joining the Housing Register until they have entered into a repayment plan and have made 
continuous repayments in accordance with the plan for a minimum period of six months. 

Once their application has been accepted onto the housing register, repayments should continue to 
be made on a regular basis until the debt is cleared. If the applicant is successful in bidding for a 
social home, any outstanding debts must usually be cleared in full before a property will be 
allocated. 

In some cases where an applicant would otherwise be offered accommodation but for such a debt 
and where it is considered that although regular repayments are in place there is no reasonable 
prospect of them repaying the debt within the timeframe required because they are unable to gain 
employment because of  physical or mental illness, learning or physical disability, or are considered 
to be unable to adequately manage their finances due to health or disability reasons, the offer may 
still be agreed. This decision will be made by the Housing Allocation Panel. 

If you do not have a local connection with Gravesham 

You will not be able to join the Housing Register if you do not have a local connection with 
Gravesham.  A local connection under this policy means:

 Currently living Gravesham and been resident for a continuous period of three years at the 
point of application.  This residence must be of an applicant’s own choice and does not 

Page 30



7

include households placed in temporary accommodation under the homeless provisions or 
Children Act 1989. 

 Employed in Gravesham and working within the borough continuously for the last three 
years.

 A Housing Association or Council tenant currently residing outside Gravesham who is 
exercising the right to move for work related reasons, where a failure to move will cause 
hardship.

 If we have accepted the main housing duty under the homeless provisions (s193 Housing 
Act 1996) due to homelessness.

 A serving member of the Regular Armed Forces or a former member within five years of 
discharge (or a bereaved or separated spouse or civil partner of such a member).

 A serving or former member of the Reserve Armed Forces within five years of discharge 
who needs to move because of a serious injury, medical condition or disability sustained as 
a result of their service.

In exceptional circumstances, applicants will not need to demonstrate a qualifying local connection. 
This can include (but is not limited to) applicants who:

 Had a break in the period of continuous residence or employment due to circumstances 
beyond their control. For example a temporary move to escape violence or threats of 
violence, or a temporary change to their usual place of work.

 Are currently residing outside Gravesham Borough but need to move into the Borough to 
provide or receive significant and ongoing care or support to, or from a close family member 
(children, parents or siblings).

 Are currently residing outside Gravesham Borough but are at risk of violence or harassment 
(including domestic abuse or hate crime) and that risk would be substantially reduced by a 
move to Gravesham. 

 Are Gravesham residents temporarily displaced because they are currently residing in a 
supported housing or rehabilitation scheme outside the Borough.

 Are aged 55 years or over and have been assessed as suitable for housing within one of our 
designated sheltered housing or extra care schemes. 

The following households will not normally be considered to have a local connection to Gravesham:

 Households placed into temporary accommodation by another local authority, in the 
homeless provisions or Children Act 1989.

 Those who do not meet the residency criteria but who have family members in Gravesham.

Each case will be assessed on its merits by the Housing Allocations Panel.

4.5. One Offer Policy (Direct Let)

Occasionally, certain properties are excluded from the Choice Base Lettings scheme and allocated 
by making a direct offer to an applicant.  This includes (but is not limited to) applicants:

 with an immediate need to move on health or welfare grounds, where the current home is 
unsuitable, or where there is an immediate threat of violence; or

 who are subject to current multi-agency public protection arrangements (MAPPA), and who 
pose a very serious risk to the community, where the type or location of properties that are 
suitable may need to be restricted; or

 who have been temporarily decanted from their current housing to enable demolition or 
redevelopment work and who need to transfer to a suitable property within the new 
development; or

Page 31



8

 with a need for a bespoke adapted home which is to be provided within a new development 
(as agreed by the Housing Allocations Panel); or

 to discharge our duty to provide accommodation to some homeless households under the 
Housing Act 1996 (as amended).

Wherever possible the direct allocation of a property will match the applicant’s assessed need in 
terms of number of bedrooms needed or floor level, and any essential requirements on health and 
welfare grounds.  Other factors such as non-essential preferences regarding the location or type of 
housing will not normally be taken into account. 

Only one direct offer of housing will be made which applicants will be expected to accept. If this is 
refused, the reasons for refusal will be considered by the Housing Allocations Panel who will decide 
if the property offered was suitable. If the property offered was unsuitable, then one further offer will 
be made. However, if the property offered was suitable then no further direct allocation will be made 
and the applicant’s housing register application will be suspended for 12 months. 

4.6. Period to consider offers and refusals

After the shortlisting and checking processes, the successful bidder will be contacted to arrange for 
them to view the property and attend a verification interview.  If you are offered a home then you 
would normally be expected to accept or refuse it within 24 hours of the viewing. 

If you refuse an offer, your Housing Register application will usually be suspended for 12 months 
and you will not be able to place any further bids during this time. If you feel the property you have 
been offered does not meet your needs, you can ask for a review as to the suitability of the 
property and you will need to provide detailed reasons for your refusal. 

Your request will be considered by the Housing Allocations Panel who will consider the suitability of 
the offer in accordance with your assessed needs taking into account (but not limited to):

 The size, floor level, space and arrangement of the property, and whether it meets the 
housing needs of the household.

 Any medical or welfare grounds for re-housing.
 Any risk of domestic or other violence.
 Any other exceptional circumstances.

We will not hold the property for you during the review period; it will be immediately re-offered to 
another applicant and you will not receive any further offers during this time.  If the review confirms 
the property was suitable your refusal will result in your housing register application being 
suspended for 12 months. If your reasons for refusal are accepted by the Housing Allocations 
Panel, and the property offered is considered to be unsuitable for your needs you will be able to 
continue bidding without any penalty.

4.7. What happens if you are ineligible or disqualified from the Housing Register?

We will write to you to notify you if we decide that you are not eligible or disqualified from the 
housing register.  You have a right to review the decision, details of how we carry out the review 
can be found at Section 9 of this policy.

4.8. Reinstatement of exceptional cases

In exceptional circumstances the Council will reinstate applications.  Applicants should write to the 
Service Manager (Housing Options), who will reinstate the applicant or make an offer if they are 
satisfied that disqualification would cause exceptional hardship to the applicant and their 
household. There will be no further right of review of the decision of the Service Manager (Housing 
Options).

Page 32



9

The effect of a decision to reinstate a disqualified application on the ground of exceptional hardship 
will be that the application is treated as having been made on the date it was originally made, not 
the date on which it was reinstated. 

5. Applying for Housing

5.1. Making an application 

Everyone that wants to be considered for inclusion on our Housing Register must carry out the 
application process set out below:

 Complete the on-line application form at 
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/housing/apply-for-housing/apply-housing-register with 
details of your housing history and the current needs of you and your household.

 Provide original documents to verify your identity and current housing circumstances.
 Complete any supplementary forms that we may send or answer further questions that we 

ask you.

This ensures that all applicants are assessed in a transparent and consistent manner and that we 
have all of the information needed about your household and current circumstances to determine 
whether you qualify to join the Housing Register and if so, what priority banding is appropriate. : 

You can complete an assessment form to record your household’s housing needs if you are 16 
years of age or over.  You can be included on only one application for housing in this borough.  
This can either be your own personal application or you can be included as a household member in 
another person’s application.  

You must complete the assessment form fully and accurately.  We will use it to decide your priority 
on the Housing Register so that housing can be allocated fairly and openly on the basis of greatest 
need.  We will carry out home visits and interviews to confirm housing needs.
 
If you are between 16 and 18 years of age, before you are offered social housing, your ability to 
manage a tenancy will be assessed, usually via a referral to Social Services or other support 
services, to identify any need for support. You will need a guarantor, usually your parent, legal 
guardian or other relative as any tenancy granted will be held in trust until you reach 18 years of 
age.

You are required to sign declarations to confirm that you:

 Have provided true, accurate and complete information.
 Will notify us of any change in your circumstances within 14 days of the change.
 Understand that information given on the assessment form will be shared with housing 

association landlords, other council departments, data matching companies and other 
relevant parties.

 Consent to us making relevant enquiries to verify the information given on the assessment 
form.

 Consent to the disclosure of relevant information by third parties to us, or by us to third 
parties.

 Understand that information provided may be used to help in the detection and prevention 
of fraud.

The Council is under a duty to protect the public funds it administers and to this end may use the 
information you provide for the prevention and detection of fraud.  It may also share this information 

Page 33



10

with other Council departments, other local authorities, Government agencies and credit referencing 
agencies for the detection and prevention of crime.

It is an offence under the Housing Act 1996 and/or the Fraud Act 2006 for anyone seeking help from 
the Council to:

 Give false or misleading information.
 Withhold information that we have asked for on an assessment form or in subsequence 

correspondence.
 Fail to tell us of a relevant change in their circumstances which could affect the priority for 

housing they have been awarded. 

This may result in prosecution, your application being suspended or cancelled and/or any tenancy 
granted to you being terminated.  Prosecution by the Council could result in a sentence of up to ten 
years in prison.

It is your responsibility to inform us of any change that could affect the priority that has been 
awarded.  If we offer affordable housing to you and, on further investigation, it appears that your 
circumstances had changed before the offer in a way that affected your housing priority; we reserve 
the right to withdraw the offer. While the investigation is ongoing the property will not usually be held 
for you and will be reallocated to the next person on the shortlist. 

When housing has been allocated on the basis of false or misleading information, legal action may 
be taken to obtain possession of the property.  We will decide when these provisions apply and 
when to begin criminal proceedings.

The Housing Register is registered under the current data protection legislation.  Information on it is 
received, held, and disclosed only for registered purposes. Applicants have the right to see 
information on their file relating to their application except where this involves confidential third party 
information.  If an applicant is not eligible or does not meet the qualifying criteria for inclusion on the 
register or respond to an annual review of their entry on the register or is otherwise removed from 
the register, their records will be kept for five years before being confidentially deleted.

5.2. Who can be included on my application? 

You can include members of your household who are currently living together with you, including 

 Your partner, whether you are married, in a civil partnership or co-habiting.
 You and your partner’s dependent children under the age of 18, including adopted children.
 Relatives, including adult children, parents or brothers/sisters unless they have a separate 

application or otherwise intend to live independently from you.
 Someone who currently lives with you as your care giver. 

We will also consider including partners, carers and their dependents who are not currently living 
with you if you are:

 No longer able to live independently because you need care and support that they can 
provide (or they need care and support that you can provide) and you are unable to live 
together as your current accommodation does not meet any needs arising from a disability.

 Unable to live together as neither you nor any other member of your household have 
accommodation available which is large enough to accommodate your whole household 
together.

Page 34



11

5.3. What if I have shared responsibilities for dependent children?
 
The Council acknowledges that many separated or divorced parents continue to share 
responsibilities for their children including providing a home for them. Where any dependent 
children live with you some of the time and at other times with their other parent/guardian at a 
separate address, we will assess whether your address is their main home and if they can be 
included as members of your household.

We will take into account:

 The financial support you receive including Child Benefit, Universal Credit/tax credits, 
disability benefits (if appropriate) and maintenance from their other parent/guardian

 Any Family Court Order(s) under the Children Act (1989) in respect of parental 
responsibility, contact or residency.

 Supporting evidence from Social Services in respect of fostering, guardianship or adoption 
placements.

 Whether the children currently reside with someone else for all or part of each week.

Regardless of the amount of time that your children actually spend with you, if we decide that their 
main home is not with you, they will not be included on your Housing Register application; an they 
will not be considered when assessing overcrowding/under-occupation or the size of property 
(number of bedrooms) that you can apply for or be offered through Choice Based Lettings.

5.4. What if I need a carer?

A carer is someone who looks after and supports a partner, friend, relative or neighbour who would 
not be able to manage without their help.  This could be due to age, physical or mental illness or 
disability.  It does not mean a professional care-worker or personal assistant who gets paid for their 
work. 

If you have identified a primary carer we will consider whether they need to live with you or near 
you to provide care. They may be entitled to Carer’s Allowance if they spend at least 35 hours per 
week in their caring role.  Even if your carer receives Carer’s Allowance it may not be essential that 
they live with you as a member of your household. 

If you have requested an additional bedroom for your carer, this will be considered by the Housing 
Allocations Panel

 who will take into account:

 Whether your carer receives Carer’s Allowance.
 Whether your care needs have been assessed as including overnight support.
 Whether you have been awarded benefits because of illness or disability including. 

Disability Living Allowance (Care component), Personal Independence Payment (Daily 
living component), Attendance Allowance, Industrial Injuries Disablement Benefit, 
Employment and Support Allowance.

 The level of care that you need and whether this is likely to change in the future.
 The ability of your carer to provide the level of care required.
 Your current accommodation, and where your carer currently resides.

5.5. How we decide what size of property you need

Generally, social housing is offered in line with the following guide:

Household composition Type and Size of Home

Page 35



12

A single person. Bedsit, studio flat, or one bedroom flat, 
house, or bungalow (or sheltered 
accommodation if appropriate).

A couple One bedroom flat, house, or bungalow 
(or sheltered accommodation if 
appropriate).

Two adults (or a couple with a verified 
need for separate bedrooms).

Two bedroom flat, house, or bungalow 
(or sheltered accommodation if 
appropriate).

A couple or single parent with one child. Two bedroom flat, house or bungalow.
A couple or single parent with two children. Two or three bedroom flat, house or 

bungalow (depending on age/sex of 
children).

A couple or single parent with three or 
more children.

Three or four bedroom house, 
(depending on age/sex of children).

Exceptions to this guide, depending on individual circumstances, which include (but are not limited 
to) applicants where:

 There is a medical recommendation for a bigger home for example:
o To meet a medical or disability need for an extra bedroom.
o Accommodate a carer.
o The available home has special adaptations which you need and there are no other 

applicants of the correct household size available that need those adaptations.
 The home is offered as the result of an emergency.
 The home is offered to a homeless applicant as temporary accommodation.
 The home is offered to a downsizing tenant who has requested an additional bedroom to 

their assessed need which has been agreed by the Housing Allocations.
 The home is offered under the specific terms of a Local Lettings Plan.

Bungalows will usually be allocated to households where the applicant or a member of their 
household has been assessed as needing level-living accommodation.

5.6.  Advice and information about your application 

Advice and information about your application can be obtained from the Housing Allocation Team 
at allocations@gravesham.gov.uk 

If you are homeless or threatened with homelessness you should contact 
housingneedsteam@gravesham.gov.uk for immediate advice and assistance. 

All applicants accepted onto the Housing Register are entitled to see their entry and receive a copy 
of their application. An applicant also has the right to request general information to assess how 
their application is likely to be treated under this housing allocation scheme and whether and when 
housing appropriate to his/her needs is likely to become available. 

In practice, waiting times depend on a range of factors, including:

 Your personal circumstances including your priority banding and the size and type of 
property needed to meet your household’s need.

 The number of properties available for letting.
 The number of bids placed for each property.
 Changes in the law, regulations or guidance, or the rules of this Housing Allocation 

Page 36

mailto:allocations@gravesham.gov.uk
mailto:housingneedsteam@gravesham.gov.uk


13

Scheme.

Only a very general indication can be given as to how long an applicant may have to wait to be 
successful by using historical allocations data. There is no guarantee of housing by a certain date 
regardless of the priority band awarded.  Households with a relatively low need are likely to wait a 
very long time and many have no realistic prospect of receiving an offer of social housing.

5.7. How to bid on accommodation

Gravesham Council is a member of Kent Homechoice, a partnership of local councils and Register 
Providers who allocate housing throughout Kent via a Choice Based Lettings (CBL) system.  

CBL enables applicants to apply for suitable housing in their borough via an online bidding process.  
After a property is let, feedback about the number of households that made a bid, the priority band 
of the successful applicant, and their priority date is available to view to bidders on Kent 
Homechoice. This helps applicants to understand the availability of suitable properties, their 
likelihood of success when applying and the possible time they could be waiting.

When your application has been accepted onto our Housing Register you will receive confirmation 
of your priority banding and details of how to access the Kent Homechoice CBL process.  All 
housing offered by Gravesham and our partners within the borough is advertised at 
www.kenthomechoice.org.uk and each property will be available for applicants to place bids for a 
period of five calendar days. 

The advertisements show photographs and give basic details of the properties.  These include: the 
area, number of bedrooms, floor level and mobility level, weekly rent and service charges, along 
with any age or pet restrictions.  Properties that have been adapted for wheelchair users and those 
within sheltered housing schemes are usually offered to those who would benefit from them. There 
are no restrictions on the number of properties that you can bid for: you can place bids on any 
property that meet your household’s needs as and when they are advertised.

If you prefer, we can set up auto-bidding on your account which means that a bid will automatically 
be placed on all properties that meet your needs by the close of bidding so that you will be included 
on all of the relevant shortlists and do not miss any opportunities to be offered affordable housing.

5.8. How housing is allocated

After the advertisements have closed, a shortlist is produced for each property which ranks all the 
bids placed in priority order, with applicants in Band A first, Band B second and so on.  Within each 
band, the order of bids is ranked by the applicant’s priority date, starting with the earliest.

If two or more applicants share the same priority date within the priority band, the system will 
randomly place them in order of priority. The applicant at the top of the shortlist will be verified to 
check that the information they have given is correct and that the property is suitable. Once verified, 
the highest priority applicant will usually be offered the property, subject to any additional criteria 
that apply such as a local lettings plan, age restriction or suitability. If an applicant is not verified, 
does not respond to an offer or the offer is refused, the property will be offered to the next applicant 
in the shortlist, and so on, until the property is successfully let.

An applicant who is the highest priority bidder for more than one property will be asked to list the 
properties in their order of preference.  They will usually be offered their first choice of property.  If 
this is not suitable they will be offered their second choice, and so on.

The relative position of bidders on the shortlist for a property may change between the close of 
bidding and when the property is offered. This will only happen where there is a change in the 
priority band awarded for one or more bidders on the shortlist, this would normally be as a result of 

Page 37



14

the verification process. In such cases, the property will usually be offered to the applicant with the 
highest priority at the time the offer is made.

If there are no successful bidders the property will usually be re-advertised or it may be offered as a 
direct allocation to another applicant on the Housing Register.  Once you are shortlisted and 
nominated for a property you will not be considered for any other properties that you have placed a 
bid on. 

6. Determining Priority

6.1. Assessment and priority list date

We assess all of the information you provide to support your application in full, and may ask you to 
provide further evidence to support your application. If you do not meet any of the housing need 
criteria you will usually be excluded from the register because there is no realistic chance of being 
offered social housing.  If your circumstances change you will need to re-apply.
If you are eligible and your application is not disqualified, the two main factors that determine 
priority on the register are your assessed need (Bands A to D) and your priority date. Your priority 
date will usually be the date that your online application is made, unless your application is rejected 
if you fail to provide the information we need to assess it within 28 days of applying. 

Where there is a subsequent relevant change in your circumstances that affects your priority band 
assessment, your priority date will usually be changed to the date we were notified of the change.
We will email to tell you whether or not you have been included on the register.  If you have been 
included, we will tell you the size of property you are eligible to bid for and in which priority band 
you have been placed.  You have the right to request a review of the facts of your case that we 
have used in this assessment.  

You must tell us of any change in your circumstances within 14 days of the change.  We will email 
you to let you know if the change affects your level of housing need and/or your priority band.  The 
banding reflects broad levels of housing need, so some changes in your circumstances may make 
no difference to the band you are in.  However, sometimes a significant change in circumstances, 
such as a move to another address, the birth of another child, a change to your household income 
or savings or a substantial change in mobility may result in a reassessment of your priority.  Your 
application will usually be suspended and you will not be able to bid for any properties until you 
have provided enough written evidence to allow us to verify the change and reassess your priority, 
regardless as to whether your priority banding actually changes.

6.2. Priority Banding

If you have a qualifying housing need your application will be placed into one of four bands which 
broadly equate to: 

Band A – Urgent Priority need to move. 

Applicants in Band A have the highest priority. However, other options may still need to be sought 
so that Applicants can move more quickly.  Our Housing Options Officer will discuss this with you.

This band includes the following:

 Those with an urgent need to move as their current accommodation is unsuitable for their 
medical or disability needs and they are unable to be discharged home from hospital or other 
clinical or respite facilities.

 Where an applicant has a terminal illness and the current accommodation is unsuitable for 
their medical needs and End-of-life care. 

Page 38



15

 Households that need to move because they will suffer from severe physical or mentall illness 
as a result of their present housing circumstances.

 Transfer applicants currently living in a property with significant adaptations to meet a disability 
need but those adaptations are not required by any member of the household.

 Transfer applicants who need to move because their home is scheduled for redevelopment by 
the Council or one of its development partners.

 Applicants who have been assessed by the Housing Allocations Panel as needing a move 
under the National Witness Mobility Programme or other similar vulnerable person protection 
scheme. 

 Where the Private Sector Housing Team have assessed there are significant hazards (as 
assessed under the Housing Health and Safety Rating Scheme) or other severe property 
conditions that impose an imminent risk of harm to the occupants and the landlord is unwilling 
or unable to remedy the defects.

 Applicants who have been assessed by the Housing Allocations Panel as needing a move due 
to an immediate, urgent or exceptional need.

 Where there is a rehousing obligation because a demolition, prohibition or compulsory 
purchase order has been served in respect of the applicant’s current accommodation.

 Transfer applicants who are looking to downsize and move to a home with at least one less 
bedroom than in their current home.

 Applicants who are living in accommodation that is three bedrooms short of the Bedroom 
Standard.  

 Serving members of the Armed Forces who need to move because of a serious injury, medical 
condition or disability sustained as a result of your service.

 The bereaved spouse or civil partner of a member of the Armed Forces leaving Services 
Family Accommodation following the death of your spouse or partner.

Band B – High Priority need to move. 

Applicants in Band 2 have a high priority but are still likely to have to wait some time to be 
rehoused.   

This band includes the following:

 Applicants who are living in accommodation that is two bedrooms short of the bedroom 
standard.

 Anyone who will probably become homeless within 90 days but has not yet become homeless 
(including domestic violence and harassment cases).

 Anyone who is not occupying temporary accommodation provided or arranged by the Council
 Anyone who has not refused a reasonable offer of accommodation (including a private rented 

sector tenancy) or has a priority need.
 Anyone who did not become threatened with homelessness intentionally (within the meaning 

of Part 7 of the Housing Act 1996). 
 Homeless applicants where we have accepted a duty to secure accommodation under part 7 

of the Housing Act 1996 and they have the following additional needs.
- Long-term health conditions that are unlikely to improve as assessed by the Housing 

Allocations Panel.
- Households where there is a need to place them in Gravesham due to Child Protection 

Plans under Children Act 1989.
- Households with children who have an Educational Health and Care Plan.   
- Applicants who are unable to work as they are providing care for friends and family, and 

are in receipt of carer’s allowance. 
 Applicants living in supported housing schemes within the borough (or temporarily displaced to 

a supported housing scheme in another borough) who have been assessed as ready to move 
on into independent living.

Page 39



16

 Households that need to move because they will suffer from serious physical or medical illness 
as a result of their present housing circumstances.   

 Tenants occupying HM Forces service family accommodation who are threatened with 
homelessness because they have been served with a valid notice to vacate their tenancy 
(usually at least three months).

Band C – Priority need to move. 

Applicants in Band C can expect a long time to be rehoused.  They may wish to look at other 
housing options to resolve their housing difficulties.

 Homeless applicants where we have accepted a duty to secure accommodation under part 7 
of the Housing Act 1996, that are residing in temporary accommodation.   

 Verified rough sleepers who have a local connection to Gravesham. 
 Overcrowding – applicants needing one more bedroom than their current home 
 Households where one or more members are awarded a low priority on medical, disability or 

welfare grounds as the current housing conditions are having a negative impact on the 
medical, disability or welfare needs of a member of the household.

 Where the Private Sector Housing Team have assessed that there are some hazards (as 
assessed under the Housing Health and Safety Rating Scheme) which are having a negative 
impact on the medical, disability or welfare needs of a member of the household and the 
landlord is unwilling or unable to remedy the defects.

 Households that need to move because they will suffer from some physical or mental illness as 
a result of their present housing circumstances.  

Band D – Needing older persons (sheltered or extra care) housing or low priority

Applicants in Band D can expect to wait a very long time to be rehoused, unless they are applying 
for older person’s accommodation. They may wish to look at other housing options to resolve their 
housing difficulties.

 Applicants assessed as needing sheltered accommodation who are not currently residing in 
sheltered accommodation.

 Homeless applicants where we do not owe a duty to secure accommodation, such as:
- non-priority homeless households; or
- households assessed as having become homeless intentionally; or
- those who are of no fixed abode, including those staying or “sofa surfing” with relatives or 

friends, or living in a garage, shed, outbuilding, car or tent; or
- where we have a duty to relieve homelessness

Within each band, relative priority between applicants is determined by their priority date.

Your household will be placed in the appropriate band according to its highest need, not the 
accumulation of its needs.  For example, if you are awarded priority on the grounds of 
overcrowding and are lacking two or more bedrooms, you will be placed into band B regardless of 
whether you also have another need such as a non-essential medical or welfare reason for moving.

6.3. Overcrowding / under occupation

We assess overcrowding and under-occupation by comparing the number of bedrooms in your 
home against your household’s needs.  You will be assessed as needing one bedroom for:

 Every adult couple.
 Any other adult aged 18 or over.

Page 40



17

 Any two children of the same sex aged under 18.
 Any two children aged under 10.
 A carer (or team of carers) who does not live with you but provides you or a member of 

your household with regular overnight care.

You will be assessed as needing an extra bedroom if:

 You have a disabled child who is unable to share a room with a sibling.
 You are an approved foster carer whether or not a child has been placed with you or you are 

between placements (as long as you have fostered a child, or become an approved foster 
carer in the last 12 months).

 You have adult children in the Armed Forces (but who continue to live with you) who will be 
treated as continuing to live at home, even when deployed on operations.

 A member of your household is temporarily absent from your home because they are 
attending a full time University or higher education course.

A bedroom is defined as any room intended to be used as a bedroom, in line with what is stated on 
any tenancy agreement and to reflect the level of rent charged. If your current home has two 
separate living/reception rooms it is probable that one of these could be considered as suitable for 
use as a bedroom. 

 
For the purposes of assessing overcrowding:

 Two children of the same sex would be expected to share a bedroom until the eldest 
reaches 18 years of age.

 Two children of the opposite sex would be expected to share a bedroom until the eldest 
reaches 10 years of age.

 A couple or single parent would not be expected to share their bedroom with a child.
 A room measuring less than 50 sq. ft. (4.65 sq. m) would not be treated as a bedroom.

6.4. Property Condition 

If you rent your current home from a private landlord and you state that your reason for seeking 
social housing is due to problems with the condition of your home, a member of our Private Sector 
Housing team will contact you and your landlord or managing agent responsible for the property. 
You must co-operate with this and any subsequent property inspection that may be required.  No 
priority will be awarded if you withhold your consent to allow us to contact your landlord or prevent 
works being carried out, for example by refusing to let contractors into your home to undertake the 
works.

If a visit is determined necessary by the Private Sector Housing team, they will inspect and assess 
your home using the Housing Health and Safety Rating System (HHSRS).  We use this to identify 
and categorise any hazards to health and safety.  A crowding and space hazard is included within 
the housing needs assessment of overcrowding and, if present, no additional priority will be 
awarded under property condition grounds.  

Band A priority will only be awarded to applicants who currently occupy a property which has at 
least one Category 1 hazard (excluding crowding and space) where the conditions present an 
immediate threat of serious injury or are life threatening and where remedial action is considered 
unreasonable or impractical for cost or other reasons.  

Examples of where remedial action is considered unreasonable or impractical is where:

Page 41



18

 Work cannot be carried out to remedy a serious hazard with the applicant in residence 
and no alternative accommodation is available to the applicant to assist in progressing 
remedial works.

 The risk from the hazard in the property is greater because of being an elderly person or 
having a young child but the property would be relatively safe for occupation by others.

Band C priority will only be awarded to applicants who occupy a property which has at least one 
Category 1 hazard (excluding crowding and space) where: 

 The hazard(s) identified pose a threat to the health and wellbeing of the occupants but 
where there is no immediate danger or it is not life-threatening, and remedial action is 
considered unreasonable or impractical.

 You do not have access to one or more of the basic facilities: bathroom, kitchen, inside 
toilet, cold or hot water supplies, or gas/electricity and this cannot be remedied within a 
reasonable timescale. (This does not apply if you live in shared accommodation and 
share facilities with another household).

Any priority awarded on the grounds of property condition will be removed if the necessary 
remedial works are completed before you are offered social housing.

6.5. Medical or welfare reasons for moving

Our assessment is not based on the nature or severity of any medical condition or disability but is 
focused on the direct impact that the current housing has on any condition or disability, and 
whether this could be alleviated by a move to a more suitable home. 

For example, priority may be awarded if you may have mobility issues which make it difficult for you 
to climb stairs and you are unable to access your bedroom or bathroom facilities on a different floor 
as these are only accessible by stairs. In this situation, you would benefit from a move to a property 
that provides level living. We will only assess your priority on medical and/or welfare grounds if 
there is evidence that your current housing impacts directly on your medical condition, disability or 
welfare. We will not usually assess your priority on medical or welfare grounds if your household is 
already in Band A as an assessment cannot increase your priority.

Priority on medical or welfare grounds is assessed on the basis of the information you submit. If 
you consider that anyone in your household has a medical condition that is adversely affected by 
your current housing, you must provide independent verification from your GP, Nurse, Hospital 
Consultant, Occupational Therapist or other health care professional. In welfare cases you should 
provide independent verification of your circumstances from your Social Worker, Support Worker or 
other professional involved in your case.  For medical cases we may ask you to provide further 
evidence or refer your case for independent medical advice.  For welfare assessments we may ask 
you to provide further evidence or (where appropriate) we may make a joint assessment with 
Social Services, or an appropriate support agency.

We assess your priority by looking at your current housing.  If it meets the medical and welfare 
needs of you and all members of your household there will be no change in your housing priority. 
We look at whether your current housing makes a medical condition or disability worse, and 
whether it is possible to make relevant adaptations, such as providing a stair lift or wet room to your 
home. In mobility cases we look at the severity of your difficulties in relation to your property.  
Factors such as the number of steps inside and leading to a property, width of internal doorways 
and circulation space, and whether you have a lift or ramp may be relevant.  The assessment will 
consider whether a move to more suitable housing would either improve the medical condition or 
substantially improve your quality of life. If you have medical needs, but a move would not 
significantly improve the situation, there will be no change in priority based on medical grounds. 

Page 42



19

Overcrowding may impact on the health and well-being of some or all members of your household 
and/or the needs of any dependent children. This is taken into account in the banding priority 
awarded due to overcrowding, and usually no further priority will be awarded.

Similarly, when assessing priority on welfare grounds we will consult with other people involved in 
your care, as this may identify ways to help you stay in your current home with appropriate ongoing 
support. If this resolves your support needs, you will not be awarded any priority on welfare 
grounds. Otherwise, we look at whether your needs are made worse by your current housing. If so, 
we will consider whether a move to more suitable housing would improve things for you. If you 
have welfare needs, but a move would not significantly improve the situation, there will be no 
change in priority on welfare grounds.

If you need to move into the borough in order to provide or receive significant and ongoing care or 
support to or from a close family member (children, grandchildren, parents, grandparents or 
brothers/sisters) we will look at the following factors as part of the assessment:

 The level of care and support that is required and whether this can be provided locally or by 
a formal care package.

 Whether you and/or your family member can drive or use public transport.
 Whether you and/or your family member are in receipt of Carer’s Allowance.
 Whether you need or can provide frequent assistance with activities of daily living, including 

household chores, preparing and cooking meals, organising finances and attending to 
medical needs including administering medication and attending appointments.

If you want to move within the Borough to provide or receive significant and ongoing care or 
support to or from a close family member you will not usually be considered for priority on welfare 
grounds.

If you are currently living in supported housing (including refuge) and have been assessed by the 
support provider as ready to move on into independent living, you will usually be awarded Band B 
priority on welfare grounds. 

If you are experiencing difficulties in accessing your home due to non-medical matters such as 
carrying children, shopping, prams or pushchairs on external or communal stairs or do not have 
access to a private garden, you will not usually be awarded any change in priority based on 
medical or welfare grounds.

6.6. Local Lettings Plans

National and regional policies encourage new housing schemes to be mixed tenure, catering for a 
range of needs and aspirations.  Alongside this we may use Local Lettings Plans to make social 
housing available to a wider range and variety of households, rather than concentrations of those 
with particular support needs to contribute towards balanced and sustainable communities.

Local lettings plans will set out the criteria and priorities for letting homes within a specific housing 
development or area. Local Lettings Plans will be agreed by the Assistant Director (Housing) in 
consultation with the relevant Cabinet member.

6.7. Exceptional Priority

Exceptionally, circumstances require an applicant to move urgently, which fall outside the general 
rules of the Housing Allocation Scheme.  These include (but are not limited to) cases where:

 The applicant is a high risk offender where the Council has been asked to assist under 
the Multi Agency Public Protection Arrangements; or 

Page 43



20

 The Council has been asked by the National Witness Mobility Service to assist in 
relocating witness households.

The Housing Allocations Panel will consider such cases on an individual basis and can place the 
application in Band A on the grounds of exceptional priority.  Applicants with exceptional priority 
may also be considered for a direct allocation.

6.8 The Housing Allocation Panel

The Housing Allocations Panel comprises a group of three or more officers with at least one 
representative from the Housing Allocations Team, the Housing Options Team and the Housing 
Management team.  They will meet on a regular basis to make and review decisions. The Panel will 
normally be chaired by the Senior Allocations Officer who will be responsible for notifying the 
applicant of the outcome.

The panel may also invite other relevant partners to attend, including but not limited to the 
Community Safety Team and other partner landlords.

There is no right to review a decision made by the Housing Allocation Panel. 

7. Keeping the register up to date

7.1. We will contact you once a year, on or near the anniversary of the date you were first registered to 
check whether you wish to remain on the register for another year.  We will also remind you to tell 
us about any changes in your circumstances. If you fail to respond, or fail to provide any further 
information we ask for within 28 days, we will assume that you no longer wish to be on the register, 
and your application will be removed.  If you notify us of a change of circumstances, you must also 
supply evidence of the change within 28 days so we can reassess your application.

7.2. Your application will be removed from the housing register if you: 

 Accept an offer of accommodation made from the Housing Register. 
 Accept a private sector tenancy, including when we have provided financial assistance by 

way of a rent deposit and no longer have a qualifying housing need.
 Do not respond to the annual review.
 Do not respond to correspondence from the Council asking you to provide information.
 Are no longer eligible to be included on the register.
 No longer wish to be re-housed.
 Have left temporary accommodation that we arranged for you and we do not have your 

forwarding address.
 Have moved without notifying us of your new address.

8. Scheme maintenance 

8.1. The Housing Service is responsible for this scheme, and will review its operation every year and 
following any changes to the relevant legislation or regulations.

It may sometimes be necessary to make minor amendments to this scheme, for example, if we 
decide to change the frequency of reviewing applications from annually to every two years.  
Authority to introduce such minor amendments is delegated to the Assistant Director (Housing) in 
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Housing Services. 

Page 44



21

We will seek to inform all applicants of any changes to this scheme by publicising details on our 
website and on Kent Homechoice.

9. The right to request a review of a decision

9.1 You have the right to request a review of any decision to:

 Treat you as ineligible because of your immigration status; or
 Exclude you from the register because you do not have a qualifying local connection and/or a 

housing need.
 Consider the facts of your case which have been, or are likely to be taken into account in 

considering your priority on the register.
 To disqualify your application on the grounds of your household income and/or capital, 

unacceptable behaviour, offending history, previous eviction or deliberately worsening your 
housing circumstances.

 To suspend your application due to your refusal of an offer.
 To remove your application from the Housing Register.

The notification of the decision will give clear grounds for the decision based on the relevant facts of 
your case. To request a review of a decision you must contact us within 21 days of receiving it and 
clearly state why you do not agree with the decision.  We may ask you to provide more information 
and/or attend an interview.  Reviews will usually be carried out by the Housing Allocations Panel.

The review will look at your case on the basis of the rules in our Housing Allocation Scheme, any legal 
requirements and all relevant information. This includes information you have provided and any 
changes since the original decision was made, for example paying off arrears or setting up a repayment 
plan, or where someone responsible for anti-social behaviour has left your household. We will not 
consider a further review of the decision unless there is a material change in your circumstances.  

Page 45



This page is intentionally left blank



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Housing Services Committee

Date: 16 November 2020

Reporting officer: Daniel Killian, Assistant Director (Housing)

Subject: Additional Resources Project Update - DSO Building 
Management

Purpose and summary of report: 
To update the Housing Services Committee on the progress of the Additional Resources 
project that commenced in October 2018 to expand the operational workforce within DSO 
Building Mangement in order to bring more work back in-house and reduce the reliance on 
contractors. 

As the Additional Resources project is being completed using a phased approach, this report 
summarises some of the outcomes and successes of Phase 1 along with the proposed plans 
for implementation of Phase 2.

Recommendations:
1. For information only. 

1. Background

1.1 The Overview Scrutiny Committee Topic Review in June 2016 made a 
recommendation to increase the current establishment in order to keep more work 
in-house and reduce the reliance on a contractor.  To facilitate this, a number of 
significant changes have been made to the service over the last four years 
including; 

1.1.1 Amending the pay arrangements for the craft workers to ensure the 
Council were not paying above the market rate, and providing value for 
money

1.1.2 Transforming the management of work through the implementation of a job 
scheduling system coupled with handheld technology to ensure jobs and 
resources were scheduled in the most efficient way 

1.1.3 Introduction of more robust policies and procedures for both staff and 
tenants to ensure responsibilities were clearly defined and properly 
adhered to.  

Page 47 Agenda Item 7



2

1.2 Following these significant changes over a two year period, in October 2018 
Cabinet agreed to the recruitment of 25 additional craft workers to be appointed 
over two phases to ensure the number of staff proposed was sufficient and that 
the investment being made by the service delivered value for money. 

1.3 In the initial proposals to Cabinet, Phase 1 consisted of 14 new members of staff 
with an additional 11 to be recruited in Phase 2. It was agreed that prior to 
recruiting to Phase 2, a review of Phase 1 would be completed to ensure 
successful outcomes were achieved.   

2. Update on Phase 1

2.1 As outlined in Section 1, Phase 1 consisted of an additional 14 craft workers to 
undertake some elements of responsive work along with the Kitchen & Bathroom 
programme that had historically been completed by a contractor as part of the 
HRA Capital Improvement Programme. 

2.2 In response to the recruitment campaign for Phase 1, over 200 job applications 
were received but the actual recruitment of the crafts workers required took longer 
than anticipated due to the very specific requirements for each position. 
Therefore, the newly created posts were not fully occupied until September 2019. 

2.3 The original report to Cabinet in October 2018 confirmed that whilst there would 
be financial benefits to the Council as a result of recruiting more crafts workers to 
take on more work in-house, there would also be a number of non-financial 
benefits some of which are outlined below along with the outcomes: 

2.3.1 Better value for money – In 2019/2020 the budget for repairs and 
maintenance was set at £4,270,530 and the outturn was £4,076,972, 
delivering a saving of £193,558 on the 2019/20 budget. This saving was 
achieved in addition to the ongoing budget reductions within DSO Building 
Management over recent years.  

To put this into context, historically and up to 2015/2016, prior to any 
changes being made to the service the budget for repairs and 
maintenance was set at £5,000,000, with an average overspend per year 
of nearly £500,000. The budget for 2020/21 was set at £3,992,000 and 
based on current predictions, a year-end saving of approximately £70,000 
is likely to be achieved assuming there are no adverse incidents creating a 
spike in demand.

Assuming this position is maintained, the changes implemented over the 
last four years which include Phase 1 recruitment deliver annual saving of 
approximately £1,600,000 when compared to historical budget spend prior 
to any service delivery changes.   

2.3.2 Increase in performance and productivity – In 2018/19 the percentage 
of work kept in-house was 74%. This increased to 84% in 2019/20 and 
continues to increase throughout 2020/21. Again to put this in to context, in 
2015/16, 60% of work was kept in-house.  

2.3.3 Increased quality of work – Whilst there was evidence that the in-house 
workforce delivered a higher standard of work due to the lower levels of 
failed post inspections, snags and complaints compared to the contractor, 
the majority of the new recruits were previously self-employed so had a 
clear understanding of what a ‘customer’ expects in terms of the work 

Page 48



3

quality and level of customer service. The number of compliments for this 
team are at an all-time high. 

2.3.4 Increase flexibility and resilience – The impact of Covid-19 has really 
demonstrated the benefits of having an in-house workforce.  The service 
was still able to provide a good level of service and return to normal 
service levels quickly and effectively.  Gravesham were one of the few 
social housing providers in Kent to continue to operate a repairs and 
maintenance (including voids) service over the last six months.

2.3.5 A greater focus on prevention – Since the increase to the establishment 
the majority of work that is pre-inspected is carried out by the tradesman 
who will be undertaking the work.  This allows them to decide on the best 
long-term solution and materials for the repair but also allows them to book 
the appointment on site with the tenant whilst confirming what work will be 
carried out.

2.3.6 Improved customer satisfaction – Customer satisfaction with repairs 
was 98% in 2019/20 compared to 96.93% in 2018/19. Whilst there is 
limited historical data on previous years, BMG were commissioned in 2016 
to undertake a telephone survey to establish customer satisfaction across 
the key service areas.  The report confirmed that 75% of tenants were 
satisfied with how the Council dealt with repairs and maintenance. 

2.4 The service was also shortlisted as a finalist in the category of Maintenance Team 
of the Year in the National Housing Heroes Awards in July 2019.  The submission 
outlined the journey and achievements of the service and it was a proud moment 
for all of the workforce to be recognised and shortlisted.

3. Proposals for Phase 2

3.1 In addition to the 14 roles that were required for Phase 1, the 2018 Cabinet report 
also identified 11 roles which were proposed for Phase 2 at that moment in time. 

3.2 However, in undertaking a review of Phase 1, and further analysis as to what type 
of work is being given to our contractor and the skills currently held in-house, the 
update report to Cabinet this month proposed that this be increased from 11 to 23 
additional roles, which is 12 more than originally agreed. 

3.3 For Phase 2, it has been established that there are four areas to focus on which 
are summarised below: 

3.3.1 Expanding current skill sets – Expand the workforce in the areas where 
we already have the skillset to bring those trades in their entirety back in 
house, such as fencing and wet trades.  Previously it was felt that there 
would always be a need for a contractor to provide these type of services.  
However over the last three years, our existing contractor has been unable 
to provide extra labour on request, particularly at short notice.  With this 
and the efficient scheduling of appointments some trades are now 
completed using only our in-house workforce such as double glazing, 
electrical repairs and plumbing and now other trades have been identified 
where this could happen.

3.3.2 Increasing in-house skillsets – Create new roles and recruit to the 
trades that we do not currently have in-house such as minor roofing 

Page 49



4

repairs, small scale drainage works, plastering and brickwork positions that 
have historically been completed by a contractor in their entirety. 

3.3.3 Creating less skilled roles to support trades – Historically DSO Building 
Management has always kept the smaller jobs in-house giving the bigger 
work to a contractor.  However, a refocus over the last 18 months has 
resulted in the series keeping the bigger and more expensive jobs in-
house.  This can mean that if it is a two-man job, two skilled craft workers 
would need to be used for one job for a whole week.  In exploring the 
industry it has been identified that labourer roles would help to support the 
current operation and the new trades being brought back in-house, 
somebody to foot a ladder for a roofer is a good example.  There will also 
be opportunities to develop such labourers with specific trade courses 
which will benefit both them and the service in the future. 

3.3.4 Planned Works - The electrical testing and upgrade programme is a 
planned programme that has historically been completed by a contractor.   
The current contractor’s contract for the Electrical Testing and Upgrade 
programme expires in March 2021 and it is seen as an opportunity to bring 
this work back in-house.  The Code of Practice for Electro-technical Care 
in Social Housing confirms that social housing landlords should be 
undertaking an inspection of the electrics in a property every five years. 
Whilst the cost of the test undertaken by the current contractor is not 
expensive, any remedial work following the test is.

3.4 As with Phase 1, it is anticipated that further savings will be achieved in excess of 
£900,000 per annum assuming Cabinet and Full Council support the proposals to 
increase the workforce even further. There will of course be further non-financial 
benefits as experienced as a result of Phase 1, and as reported in Sections 2.3.1 
to 2.3.6 of this report.  

3.5 The current contractors for responsive repairs and the electrical upgrade 
programme are not local contractors and neither is their workforce, therefore 
expanding the workforce will bring employment in to the Borough at a time when it 
is needed most.

3.6 In addition to all the benefits an in-house workforce can deliver now, expanding 
the team and taking greater control of how we deliver our service more efficiently 
enables a more commercial approach to be taken which aligns with the corporate 
ambition of privately trading and selling our services to generate much-needed 
income.  

3.7 In preparation for private trading, it is important to succession plan and increase 
the number of trade apprentices employed within DSO Building Management in 
order to grow and shape the future workforce.  Work is on-going to review what is 
required and will be taken forward in Spring 2021 to fit in with the summer in-take 
of the local colleges.

4. Budget

4.1 As confirmed in Section 3.4 of this report, the proposed expansion of the 
workforce will deliver further budgetary savings against planned budgets as 
shown below:  

Page 50



5

Team Resource Current Budget Future Budget Potential Saving
Electrical Upgrade 6 x Electricians & 2 Apprentices £831,600 £570,120 £261,480
Kitchen & Bathroom 3 x Multi-Trades £1,300,000 £887,500 £412,500
Responsive Repairs/ Voids 7 x Multi-Trades
Responsive Repairs/ Voids 5 x Labourers

£2,849,160 £1,918,700 £930,460Total cost

£717,560 £461,080 £256,480

Phase 2 Recruitment - Financial Implications

4.2 The future budgets shown in the table above include all salaries at top of scale 
with all on costs included such as overheads and materials and the savings 
identified are across HRA revenue and capital budgets.  

4.3 There will need to be a Capital spend for the purchasing of additional vans.  There 
is already £120,000 set aside for the purchase of new vans in Phase 2. However, 
due to the proposals to increase the workforce above what was initially planned 
for Phase 2, an additional 16 vans are required totalling £184,000. Working with 
colleagues in Finance, the additional amount required can be funded from an 
underspend within the current financial year. 

5. BACKGROUND PAPERS

5.1 Cabinet Report, 08 October 2018 – Additional Resources – DSO Building 
Management

5.2 Cabinet Report, 09 November 2020 – Additional Resources – Phase 2 of the 
expansion of the workforce within DSO Building Management. 

Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be directed to 
Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary arrangements.

Page 51



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1
     

Legal As a Landlord, the Council has a legal duty to respond to repair requests within set 
timescales to ensure compliance with legislation and therefore needs appropriate 
resources in place to comply with this requirement

Finance and Value 
for Money 

The total financial commitment of recruiting the additional craft workers would be 
£590,990 at top of grade, inclusive of on-costs and overheads which can be 
contained within existing budgets. 
The recruitment of additional craft workers can be accommodated within exisitng 
budgets, and will allow the service to continue to drive through efficiencies and 
savings by bringing more work back in-house.
The changes as proposed within this report are likely to generate an overall saving 
of £672,500 within Capital HRA budgets and £256,480 within HRA Revenue 
budgets whilst also increasing the quality of work and capacity to deliver more for 
our tenants.  

Risk Assessment Under Phase 1 to mitigate the risk of over resourcing the service, a two phase 
approach to recruitment took place and over the last 18 months we have been able 
to monitor the service and it has given extra time to determine what is needed.
There is a risk that we take on people without the extact skill set we are looking for 
however we are confident that our success in recruiting in Phase 1 will continue.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
N/A

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
N/A

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
No

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan #1 People

Page 52

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


7

Provide a Proactive, Supportive and Financially Efficient Housing Service: high 
quality tenant management experienced through a service making full use of its 
assets.
Deliver a skilled in-house building management team
#2 Place
Increased local opportunities for residents who wil have reduced need to travel 
outside of the Borough for employment. 
#3 Progress
Develop an entrepreneurial culture. 
Deliver a more resilient, creative and cost effective council. 

Climate Change Having control over the appointments for DSO Building Management ensures that 
work is programmed in the most efficient way potentially reducing fuel usage across 
the Borough.

Crime and Disorder N/A

Digital and website 
implications

N/A

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

N/A

Page 53



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	4 Corporate Performance Update: Quarter Two 2020-21
	2. Housing Services - Q2 Performance Report - Appendix 2

	5 Update on Allocations Policy Consultation
	201106 Draft Housing Allocations Scheme DK

	7 Update on Additional Resources - DSO Building Management



